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The Princess had a list of the names of all who 
belonged to the Queen's chamber on her de k. he 
a ked me for information respecting each individual. 
I was fortunate in having none but the most favour­
able information to gi e. I had to sp ak of my 
avowed enemy in the Que n's chamber i of her who 
most wished that I should be respon ible for my 
brother's political opinions. The Prine ss, as the 
head of the chamber, could not be j norant of this 
circumstance; but as the ~ male in qu stion, who 
idolised the King and Qu n, would not have hesi-

. tateq to sacrifice her life in ord r to s v th ir , 
and as possibly her attachm nt to th m, unit d to 
considerable narrowness of int II ct and a limited 
education, contributed to her jealou y of me, I spoke 
of her in the highest terms. 

The Princess wrote as I dictated, and occasion­
ally looked at me with astonishment. Wh n I had 
done I entreated htr to write in the margin that the 
lady alluded to was my declared n ... my. he em­
braced me, saying, "Ah! do not write it I w shoilld 
not record an unhappy circumstance which ought to 
be forgotten. " We came to a man of genius ;who was 
much att ched to the Queen, and I described him 
as a man born solly to contr diet, showing himself 
an aristocrat with democrats, and a democrat among 
aristocrat ; but till a man of probity, and well dis­
posed to his sovereign. The Princess aid sh 
knew many persons of that disposition, and that she 
was delightei I had nothing to say against this man, 
because she herself had placed him about the Queen. 
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The whole of her Majesty's chamber, whi<.:h 
consisted entirely of persons of fidelity, gave through­
out all the dreadful convulsions of the Revolution 
proofs of the greatest prudence :;tnd self-devotion. 
The same cannot ' be said of the antechambers. 
With the exception of three or four, all the servants 
of that class were outrageous J acobins; and I saw 
on those occasions the necessity of composing the 
private household of princes of persons completely 
separated from the class of the people. 

The situation of the royal family was so unbear­
able during the months which immediately preceded 
the loth of Augusnhat the Queen longed for ~e 
crisis whatever might be its issue. She frequently 
said that a long confinement in a tower by the seaside 
would seem to her less intolerable than those feuds 
in which the weakness of her party daily threatened 
an inevitable catastrophe. l 

1 A few days before the loth of August the squabbles be­
tween the royalists and the J acobins, and between the J acobins 
and the constitutionalists, increased in warmth; among the latter 
those men who defended the principles they professed with the 
greatest talent, courage, and constancy were at the same time 
the most exposed to danger. Montjoie says: "The question of 
dethronement was discussed with a degree of frenzy in the 
Assembly. Such of the deputies as voted against it were abused, 
ill-treated, and surrounded by assassins. They had a battle to 
fight at every step they took; and at length they did not dare to 
sleep in their own houses. Of this number were Regnault de 
Beaucaron, Froudiere, Girardin, and Vaublanc. Girardin com­
plained of having been struck in one of the lobbies of the 
Assembly. A voice cried out to him, 'Say where you were struck.' 
-' Where 7' replied Girardin, ' what a question I Behind. Do 
assassins ever strike otherwise 7' " (History of Marie Antoi1Iette).- . 
Note by tile Editor. 
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Not only were their Majest.ies prevented ' from 
breathing the open air, but they were also insulted 
at the very foot of the altar. The Sunday before 
the last day of the monarchy, while the royal family 
went through the gallery to the chapel, half the 
soldiers of the national guard exclaimed, "L01Z(J' 

lz've the King!" and the other half, "No; no Z(Z1zg! 

down wz"th the veto!" and on that day at vespers,the 
choristers preconcerted to use loud a,nd threatening 
emphasis when chanting the words "DeposttZt po­
terdes de sede," in the Mag-'lijicat. Incensed at such 
an irreverent proceeding, the royalists in th ir turn 
thrice exclaimed, "Et reginam," after the" Dom£11e 
salvum fac regem." The tumult during th whol 
time of divine service was excessive. 

At length the terrible night of the loth of August 
1792 arrived. On the preceding ev ning Peti n 
went tn the Assembly and informed it that prepara­
tions were making for an insurrection on th follow­
ing day; that the tocsin would sounu ::!.t midnight; 
and that he feared he had not sufficient m <;tns for 
resisting the attack which was about to take plac . 
Upon this information the Ass mbly passed to th 
order of the day . . Petion, however, gave an order 
for repelling force by force. l M. Mandat was arm d 
with this order; and finding his fidelity to the 
King's person suppnrted by what he considered the 
law of the State, he conducted himself in all his 

1 P~tjon was the Mayor of Paris, and Mandat on this day 
was commanda)ll' of the national guard. Mandat was assassi­
nated that night.--Tltiers, voL i. p. 260. 
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'opera~ions with the greatest energy. On the even­
ing of the 9th I was present at the King's supper. 
While his Majesty was giving me various orders 
we heard a great noise at the door of the apartment. 
I went to see what was the cause of it, and found 
the two sentinels fighting. One said, speaking of 
the King, that he was hearty in the cause of the 
constitution, and would defend it at the peril of his 
life; the other maintained that he was an encum­
brance to the only constitution suitable to a free 
people. They were almost ready to cut one another's 
throats. I returned with a countenance which be­
trayed my emotion. The King desired to know 
what was going forward at his door; I could not 
conceal it from him. The Queen said she was not 
at all surprised at it, and that more than half the 
Guard belonged to the J acobin party. 

The tocsin sounded at midnight. The Swiss were 
drawn up like walls ; and in the midst of their 
oldier-like silence, which formed a striking contra.st 

with the perpetual din of the town guard, the King 
informed M. de J--, an officer of the staff, of the 
plan of defence laid down by General Viomenil. M. 
de J-- said to me, after this private conference, 
" Put your jewels and money into your pockets; our 
dangers are unavoidable; the means of defence are 
null ; safety might be obtained by some degree of 
energy in the King, but that is the only virtue in 
which he is deficient. " 

An hour after midnight the Queen ,and Madame 
Elizabeth said they would lie down on a sofa in a 
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closet in the entreso/s, the windows of which cOln­
manded the courtyard of the Tuileries. 

The Queen told me the King had just refused 
to put on his quilted under-waistcoat; that he had 
consented to wear it on the J 4th of July because he 
was merely going to a ceremony wh re the blade of 
an assassin was to be apprehended, but that on a 
day on which his party might fight against the revo­
lutionists he thought there was something cowardly 
in preserving his life by such means. 

During this time Madarne Elizabeth disengaged 
herself from some of her clothing which encumbered 
her in order to lie down on the sofa : she took a 
cornel ian pin out of her cape, and before she laid it 
down on the table she showed it to me, and desired 
m~ to read a motto engraved upon it round a stalk 
of lilies. The words were, "Obl£vion o.f injuries 
-pardon .for offences." "I much fear," added that 
virtuous Princess, "this maxim has but little in­
fluence among our enemies; but it ought not to 
be less dear to us on that account."1 

1 The exalted piety of Madame Elizabeth gave to all she said 
and did a noblc character, descriptive of that of her soul. On 
the day on which this worthy descendant of Saint Louis was 
sacrificed the executioner, in tying her hands behind her, raised 
up one of the ends of her handkerchief. Madame Elizabeth, 
with calmness, and in a voice which seemed not to belong 
to earth, said to him, " In he name of modesty, cover my 
bosom." I learned this from Madame de Serilly, who was con­
demned the same day as the Princess, but who obtained a 
respite at the moment of the execution, Madame de Montmorin, 
her relation, declarinfi that her cousin was mceinte.-Madame 
Call1jJan. . 
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The Queen desir~d me to sit down by her; the 
two Princ~sses "could not sleep; t~ey were convers- ' 
ing mournfully upon their situation when a musket 
was discharged in the courtyard. They both quitted 
the sofa, saying, " There is the first shot" unfortu­
nately it will not be the last; let us go up to the 
King." The Queen desired me t() follow her; 
several of her women went with me. 

At four o'clock the Queen came out of the 
King's chamber and told us she had no longer 
any hope; that M. Mandat, who had gone to the 
H6te1 de 'Ville to receive fur ther orders, had just 
been 'assassinated, and that the people were at that 
time carrying his head about the streets. Day 
came. The King, the Queen, Madame Elizabeth, 
Madame" and· the Dauphin wen t down to pass 
through the ranks of the sections of the national 
guard; the cry of " Vive le Roi.l" was heard from a 
few places. I was at a window on the garden 
side; I saw some of the gunners quit their posts, 
go up to the King, and thrust their fists in his 
face, lnsulting him by the most brutal language. 
Messieurs de Salvert and de Bridges drove them 
off in a spirited manner. The King was as pale 
as a corpse. The royal family came in again. The 
Queen told me that all was lost; that the King had 
shown no energy; ann that this sort of review had 
done more harm than good. 

I was in the billiard-room with my companions; 
we placed ourselves upon some high benches. T 
then saw M. d'Hervilly with a drawn sword in hi.; 
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hand, ordering ,the usher to open the door to the 
French no~lesse. Two hundred persons entered the 
ro'om nearest tQ that in which the family were; 
others dre.w up in two lines in the preceding rooms. 
I saw a few people belonging to the ~ourt, many 
others whose features were unknown to me, and a 
few who figured groundlessly enough among what · 
was called the noblesse, but whos'e self-devotion en­
nobled them at once. They were all so badly armed 
that even in that situation the indomitable French 
liveliness indulged in jests. M. de Saint Souplet, 
one of the King's equerries, and a page, carried on 
their shoulders instead of muskets the tongs be­
longing to the King's antechamber, which they had 
broken and divided between them. Another page, 
who had a pocket-pistol in his hand, stuck the end 
of it against the back of the person who stood before 

. him, and who begged he would be good enough to 
rest it elsewhere. A sword and a pair of pistols 
were the only arms of those who' hag had the pre­
caution to provide themselves with arms at all. 
Meanwhile, the numerous bands from the faubourgs, 
ar111ed with pikes and cutlasses, filled the Carrousel 
and the strp.ets adjacent to the Tuileries. The san­
guinary Marseillais were at their head, with cannon 
pointed against the Chiteau. I n this emergency the 

. King's council sent M. Dejoly, the Minister of 
Justice, to the. Assembly to request they would sel!d 
the King a deputation which might serve as a safe­
guard to the executive power. His ruin was re­
iiolved on; they passed to the order of the day. At 
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eight o'clock the department repaired to the Chateau. 
The procureur-syndz'c, seeing that the guard within 
was ready to join the Q.ssailants, went imo the King's 
closet and requested to speak to him in private. 
The King received him in his chamber; the Queen 
was with him. There M. Rcederer told him that 
the King, all his family, and the people about . them 
would inevitably perish unless his Majesty imme­
diately determined to go to the National Assembly. 
The Queen at first opposed this advice, but the pro­

cureu1~-syndz'c told her that she rendered herself re­
spunsible for the deaths of the King, her children, 
and all who were in the Palace. She no longer 
objected. The King then consented to go to the 
Assembly. As he set out he said to the minister 
and persons who surrounded him, "Come, l;entlemen, 

the1~e z:r; not/tz'ng'mon to be done he1~e." 1 The Queen 

1 The informant, cited by Montjoie, thus relates the efforts 
made by M. Rcederer with th e people and the national guard, and 
the conversation he afterwards had with the King in his closet: 
"M. R~derer, it must be said to his praise, tried all means. 
At last, Leing unable to suhdue the fury of the people, he calmed 
it for a jew minutes; they granted him half an hour, and the 
depositaries of the law instantly returned into the court of the 
Chateau, Here they met with obstacles of another kind' the 

, ) 

natIOnal guard seemed perfectly resolute and well disposed. 
M. Rcederer called tl:eir attention to the extent of the danger; 
he made them promise to remain firm at their p<'sts ; he ex­
horted them not to attack their fellow-citizt'ns, their brethren, as 
long as they should remain inactive; but he foresaw the ap­
proaching moment when the Chateau wbuld be attacked, He 
explained to them the principles of lawful defence and made the 
requ!sition prescribe? by the l~~v of the month' of May '1791 
rel~tlve t~ the publIc safety. I he national guard, however, re­
mamed Silent, and the gunners .unloaded their cannon. What 
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said to me as she left the King's chamber, "Wait in 
my apartments; I will come to you, or I will send 

could the authorities of the department then do? They joined 
the King's ministers, and all with one consent conjured him to 
save himself with his family, and take refuge in the bosom of the 
National Assembly. 'There, only, Sire,' said M. Rcederer, 'in 
the midst of the representatives of the people, can your Majesty, 
the Queen, and the royal family be in safety. Come, let us fly ; 
in another quarter of an hour, perhaps, we shall not be able to 
command a retreat.' 

"The King hesitated, the Queen manifested the highest dis­
satisfaction. ' What! ' said site, 'are we alone; is there nobody 
who can act?' 'Yes, Madame, alone; action is useless­
resistance is impossible.' One of the members of the ' depart­
ment, M. Gerdrot, insisted on the prompt execution of the pro­
posed measure. 'Silence, sir,' said the Queen to hih1; 'silence; 
'you are the only person who ought to be silent here; when the 
mischief is done, those who did it should not pretend to wish to 
remedy it. ; " 

"Before my return to the Chateau I visited the hall of the 
department. The authorities of the department were to remain 
assembled the whole night. The procureur-general offered to 

. pass it himself in the Chateau if the King thought it necessary. 
The King wished it should be so; I informed M. Rcederer, who 
instantly proceeded to the King ; it Wil S then near midnight 
About one in the morning, the tocsin having only begun to sound 
after the mayor had quitted the King, his Majesty desired me to 
inform M. Petion of it, and to communicate to him his wish 
that the gates of the terrace called Des Feuillans should be 
closed ... . He went to the National Assembly, gave the explana- , 
t ions required of him, but said nothing about the Terrace des 
Feuillans. The terrace had been declared part of the area of 
the National Assembly; that body alone could dispose of it; 
therefore I pressed M. Petion to demand what the King re­
quired of the National Assembly. The mayor could do this 
with the more propriety because the tocsin had sounded, and 
the ghzer-ale had been beaten; it was certain the meeting was as­
sembling, and that the National Assembly had recalled the mayor 
to their bar fully three quarters of an hour. 

/, M. Petion heard the King's observations. He felt the force 
of them. Even before he went to the National Assembly he 

. caused the gate which commands the riding-house yard to be 

VOL. II. 42 
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for you to go I know not whither." She .took with 
her only the Princessc; de Lamballe and Madame de 

shut · the Swiss received a -verbal order for it in the presence of 
all the municipal officers, and of several gren:l?iers who were 
with the mayor. The moment afterwards M. Petton returned to 
the garden, and proceeded to the terrace. I s~w him walking 
there in the midst of the same group, accompamed by the same 
municipal officers, and by a still greater number. of national 
guards. I am a witness that the commandant de balatllon accosted 
the mayor opposite the principal gate of the Chilte",u, and said to 
him that everything was qu iet, and that there was nothing to 
fear j that the commissioners of the sections, who had met at the 
Faubourg Saint Antoine, had separated and adjourned to Friday 
morning early, at the H ot.el de Ville, with the intention of coming 
to a. final resolution j but that until that time there was no ground 
for apprehension. This intelligence was too agreeable not to be 
readily believed. The mayor announced that he should soon 
relire. However, several persons pointed out to him that the 
account of the cOllllllalldant de bataill01l might be true, and still 
the danger might be pressing. 

" It has been observed that the commandant came from the 
section of the Croix Rouge j that the commissioners spoken of had 
separated at eleven o'clock j that since, and notwithstanding their 
pretenderi resolution , the tocsin had been sounded, the alarm-gun 
had been fired, the assemLJage had taken place, and everything 
seemed to announce that the people would put themselves m 
motion about five o'clock in the morning. 

" The Queen resumed her watch j the King remained mute ; 
nobody spoke. It wa reserved for me to give the last piece of 
advice. I had the firmness to say, ' Let us go, and not deliberate j 

honour commands it, the good of the State requires it. Let us 
go to the National Assembly j this step ought to have been taken 
long ago.'-' Let us go,' said the King, raising his rignt hand j 
, let us start j let us give this last mark of self-devotion since it is 
necessary . .' The Queen was. persuaded. H er first : nxiety was 
for the Kmg, the second for her son; the King had flone. ' M. 
Rcederer-g~ntlemen,' said the Queen, 'you answer for the per­
son .of the Kmg j yo~ answer for that of my son.'-' Madame,' 
repl!~d M. Rcederer, we pledge our~r lves to die at your side j 
that IS all we can engage for.' "-" Historical narrative of the tran­
sactions at the Chateau of the Tuileries during the night of the 
9th a~~ loth .August 1 792~ and the morning of the loth;" from 
Mont)Ole'S HIstory of 111arte Antoinette. 
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Tourzel. The Princesse de' Tarente and Madame 
de La Roche-Aymon were inconsolable at being 
left at the Tuileries; they, ana all who belonged to 
the chamber, went down into the Queen's apart­
ments. 

We saw the royal family pass between two lines 
formed by the Swiss grenadiers and those of the 
battalions of the Petits-Peres and the Filles Saint 
Thomas. They w~rf! so pressed upon by the crowd 
that during that short passage the Queen was robbed 
of her watch and purse. A man of great height and 
horrible appearance, one of such as were to be seen 
at the head of all the insurrections, drew near the 
Dauphin, whom the Queen was leading by the hand, 
and 'took him up in his arms. The Queen uttered a 
scream of terror, and was ready to faint. The man 
said to her, " Don't be frightened, ,I will do him no 
harm;" and he gave him back to her at the entrance 
of the chamber. 

1 leave to history all the details of that too 
memorable day, confining myself to retracing a 
few of the frightful scenes acted in the interior 
of the Tuileries, after the King had quitted the 
Palace. 

The assailants did not know that the King and 
his family had betaken themselves to the A?sembly ; 
and those who defended the Palace from the side of 
the courts were equally ignorant of it. It is supposed 
that if they had , been aware of the fact the siege 
would never have taken place. 

The MarseilIais began by driving from their 
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posts several Swiss, who yielded without resistance; 
a few of the assailants fired upon them ; some of the 
Swiss officers seeing their men fall, and perhaps think­
ing the King was ~till at the Tuileries, gave the. word 
to a whole battalion to fire. The aggressors were 
thrown into disorder, and the Carrousel was cleared 
in a moment; but they soon returned, spurred on 
by rage and revenge. The Swiss were but eight 
hundred strong; they fell back into the interior of 
the Chateau; some of the doors were battered in by 
the guns, others broken through with hatchets; the 
populace rushed from al1 quarters into the interior 
of the Palace; almost all the Swiss were massacred; 
the nobles, flying through the gal1ery which leads to 
the Louvre, were either stabbed or shot, and the 
bodies thrown out of the windows. M. Pallas and 
M. de Marchais, ushers of the King's chamber, 
were killed in defending the door of the council 
chamber; many others of the King's servants fell 
victims to their fid elity. I mention these two 
persons in particular because, with their hats pulled 
over their brows and their swords in their hands, 
they exclaimed, as they defended thems~lves with 
unavailing courage, "We will not survive-this is 
our post; our duty is to die at it." M. Diet be­
haved in the same manner at the door of the 
Queen's bed-chamber; he experienced the same 
fate. The Princesse de Tarente had fortunately 
op ned the door of the apartments; otherwise, the 
dreadful band seeing several w<;>men collected in the 
Queen's Sal01t would have fancied she was among 
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us, and would have immediately massacred us had 
we resisted them. We were, indeed, all about to 
perish, when a man with a long beard came ,up, 
exclaiming, in thp. name of Petion, "Spare the 
women; don't d£sho1Zottr the naHon!" A particular 
circumstance placed me in greater danger than the 
others. In my confusion I imagined, a moment 
before the assailants entered the Queen's apart­
ments, that my sister was not among the group of 
women collected thp.re; and I went up into an 
entresol, where I supposed she had taken refuge, 
to induce her to come down, fan cying it safer that 
we should not be separ~ted. I did not find h r in 
the roo~ in question; I saw there only our two 
.femmes de r.hamb,'e and one of the Queen's two hay­
dues, a man of great height, and military aspect. 
I saw that he was pale, and sitting on a bed. I 
cried out to him, " Fly! the footmen and our people 
are already safe." ., I cannot," said the man to me; 
"I am dying of fear." As he spoke I heard a number 
of men rushing hastily up the staircase; they threw 
themselves upon him, and I saw him assassinated. I 
ran towards the staircase, followed by our women. 
The murder~rs left the heydue to come to me. The 
women threw themselves at their feet, and held their 
sabres. The narrowness of the staircase impeded the 
assassins; but I had already felt a horrid hand thrust 
into my back to seize me by my clothes, when some 
one called out from the bottom of the staircase, "What 
are YOtf, doz1zg above the,'e ? We d01t't k£ll women." 

I was on my knees; my executioner quitted 'his 
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hold of me, and said, (: Get up, y03t jade ,. the 1tation 
pardons }IOU." 

The brutality of these words did not prevent my 
suddenly experiencing an indescribable feeling which 
partook almost equally of the love of life and the 
idea that I was going to see my son, and all that 
was dear to me, again. A moment before I had 
thought less of death than of the pain which the 
steel! suspended over my head, would occasion me. 
Death is seldom seen so close without striking his 
blow. I heard every syllable uttered by the assassins, 
just as if I had been calm. 

Five or six men seized me and my women, and 
having made us get up on benches placed before the 
windows, ordered us to call out, " The 1zatimz for 
ever /" 

I pass d over several corpses; I recognised that 
of the old Vicomte de Braves, to whom the Queen 
l)ad s nt me at the beginning of the night to desire 
him and another old man in her name to go home. 
These brave men desired I would tell her Majesty 
that th y had but too strictly obeyed the King's 
orders in all circumstances under which they ought 
to have exposed their own lives in order to preserv~ 
his; a~d that for this once they would not obey, 
tho,ugh they would cherish the recollection of the 
Queen's goodness. 

N ear the grille, on the side next the bridge, the 
men who conducted me asked whither I wished to 
go. Upon my inquiring, in my turn, whether they 
were at liberty to take me wherever I might wish to 
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go, one of them, a Marseillais, asked me, giving me 
at the same time a push with the butt end of his 
musket, whether I still doubted the power of the 
people? I answered "No," and I mentioned th 
number of my brother-in-law's house. I saw my 
sister ascending the steps of the parapet of the 
bridge, surrounded by members of the national 
guard. I called to her, and she turned round. 
"Would you h:we her go with you?" said my 
guardian to me. I told him I did wish it. They 
called the people who were leading my sister to 
prison; she joined me. 

Madame de La Roche-Aymon and h r daughter, 
Mademoiselle Pauline de Tourz I, Madame de Gin­
estoux, lady to the Princesse de Lamballe, the other 
women of the Queen, and. the old Comte d'Affry, 
were led off together to the Abbaye. 

Our progress from the Tuileries to my sister's 
house was most distressing. W saw several Swiss 
pursued and killed and musket-shots werer.rossing 
each other in all directions. We passed under the 
walls of the 'Louvre; they were firing from the para­
pet into the windows of the gallery, to ·hit the 
kn£ghts of the dagger; for thus did the populace 
designate those faithful subjects who had as~embled 
at the Tuileries to defend the King. 

The b1igands brok~ some vessels of water in the 
Queen's first antechamber; the mixture of plood 
and water stained the skirts of our white gowns. 
The poissardes screamed after . us in the streets that 
we were attached to the A ustrz"a1t. Our protectors 
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then showed some consideration for us, and made us 
go up a gateway to pull off our gowns; but our petti­
coats being too short, and making us look like per­
sons in disguise, other poz'ssardes began to bawl out 
that we were young Swiss dressed up like women. 
We then saw a tribe of female cannibals enter the 
street, carrying the head of poor Mandat. Our 
guards made us hastily enter a little public-hpuse, 
called for wine, and desired us to drink with them. 
They assured the landlady that we were their sisters, 
and good patriots. H appily the Marseillais had 
quitted us to return to the Tuileries. One of the 
men who remained with us said to me in a low 
voice-" I am a gauze-worker in the faubourg. I 
was forced to march ; I am not for all this; I have 
not killed anybody, and have rescued you. You ran 
a great risk when we met the mad women who are 
carrying Mandat's head. These horrible women 
said yesterday at midnight, upon the site of the 
Bastille, that they must have their revenge for the 
6th of October, at Versailles, and that they had 
sworn to kill the Queen and all the women attached 
to her; .the danger of the action saved you all." 

. As I crossed the Carrousel, I saw my house in 
flames; but as soon as the first moment of affright 
was ovet, I thought no more of my personal mis­
fortunes. My ideas turned solely upon the dreadful 
situation of the Queen. 

On reaching my sister's we found all our family 
in despair, believing they should never see us again. 
I could not remain in her house; some of the mob, 
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collected round the door, exclaimed that Marie An­
toinette's confidante was in the house, and that they 
must have her head. I disguised myself, and was 
concealed in the house of M. Morel, secretary for 
the lotteries. On the morrow i was inquired for 
the~e, in the name of the Queen. A deputy, whose 
sentiments were known to her, took upon himself to 
find me out. 

I borrowed clothes, and went with my sister to 
the Feuillans. 1 We got there at the same time with 
M. Thierry de Ville-d'Avray, the King's first valet 
de cha11'tbre. We were taken into an office, where 
we wrote down our names and places of abode, and 
we received tickets for admission into the rooms 
belonging to Camus, the keeper of the Archives; 
where the King was with his family. 

As we entered the first room, a person who was 
there said to me, "Ah! you are a brave woman; 
but where is that Thierry, 2 th;tt man loaded with his 
master's bounties?" "He is here," said I; "he is 
following me. I perceive that even scenes of death 
do not banish jealousy from among you." 

Having 'belonged to the Court from my earliest 
youth, I was known to many persons whom I did 
not know'. As I traversed a corridor above the 
cloisters w.hich lpd to the cells inhabited by the un-

1 A former monastery ne r the Tuileries, so called from the 
B~rnardines, one of the Cistercian orders; later, a revolutionary 
club. 

2 M. Thierry, who never ceased to give his sovereign proofs 
of unalterable attachment, was one of the victims of the 2d of 
September.-Mada,ne Camjtm. 
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fortunate Loui~ XVI. and his family, several of the 
grenadiers called me by name. One of them said to 
me, "VJ ell, the poor King is lost! The Comte 
d'Artois would have managed it better." "Not at 
all," said another. 

The royal fa~ily occupied a small s'Jite of apart­
ments consisting ~f four cells, formerly belonging to 
the ancient monastery of the Feuillans. In the first 
were the men who had accompanied the King: the 
Pri.flce de Poix, the Baron d'Aubier, M. d~ Saint Par­
dou, equerry to Madame Elizabeth, MM.de Goguelat, 
de Chamilly, and de Hue. In the second, we found 
the King; he was having his hair dressed; he took 
two locks of it, and gave one to my sister and one 
to me. 'We offered to' kiss his hand; he opposed it, 
and embraced us without saying anything. In the 
third was the Queen, in bed; ana ' in indescribable 
affliction. We found her accompartied ' only by a 
stout. w,oman, who appeared tolerably· civil; she was 
the keeper, of the apartments. She waited upon th~ 
Queen, who as yet had none of h~r ,own people about 
her. Her Majesty stretched out her ,arms to us; 
saying, "Come, unfortunate women; come, and see 
one still more unhappy than yourselves, since she 
has been the cause of all your misfortunes. \Ve are 
ruined," continued she; "we ha~e arrived at that 
point to which they have been leading us for three 
years, through all possible outrages;1 we shall fall in ' 
this dreadful revolution, and many others will perish 
after us.' All have contributed to our downfall; the 
reformers have urged it like mad people, and others 
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through ambition, for the wildest J acobin seeks wealth 
and office, and the mob is eager for plunder. There 
is not one lover of his country among all this infamous 
horde. The emigrant party had their intrigues and 
schemes; foteigners sought to profit by the dissensions 
of France; everyone had a shar<;=! in our misfortunes. Il 

The Dauphin came in with Madame and the 
Marquise de Tourzel. On seeing them the Queen 
said to me, "Poor children! how heartrending it 
is, instead of handing down to them so fine an in­
heritance, to say it ends with us !" She aft rwards 
conversed with me about the Tuileries and the 
persons who had fallen; she condescend d also to 
mention the burning of my hous. I look d upon 
that loss as a mischance which ought not to dw 11 
.upon her mind, and I told her so. he spoke of the 
Princesse de Tarente, whom she greatly loved and 
valued, of Madame de La Roche-Aymon and h r 
daughter, of the 'other persons whom she had left at 
the Palace, and of the Duchesse de Luynes, who was 
to have passed the night at the Tuileries. Respect­
ing her she said, " Hers was one of the first h ads 
turned by the rage for that mischievous philosophy; 
but her heart brought her back, and I again found a 
friend in her." 1 I asked the Queen what the am­
bassadors from foreign powers had done under 

1 During the Reign of Ter or I withdrew to the Chateau de 
Coubertin, near that of D~pierre. The Duchesse de Luynes 
frequently ca.me to ask me to tell her what the Queen had said 
about her at the Feuillans. She would say as she went away, "I 
have often ~ed to request you to repeat those words oj the Queen." 
-Madame Campan. 
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existing circumstances? She told me that they 
could do nothing; 'lnd that the wife f)f the Engli·sh 
ambassador had just given her a proof of the per­
sonal interest she took in her welfare by sending her 
linen for her son. 

I informed her that, in the pillaging of my house, 
all my accounts with her had been thrown into the 
Carrousel, and that every sheet of my month's ex,­
penditure was signed by her, sometimes leaving 
fou r or five inches of blank paper above her signa­
ture, a circumstance which rendered me very uneasy, 
from an apprehension that an improper use might 
be made of those signatures. She desired me to 
demand admission to the committee of general 
safety, and to make this declaration there. I re­
paired thither instantly ;jnd found a deputy, with 

• whose name I have never become acquainted. 
After hearing me he said that he , would not re­
ceive my depos ition; that Marie Antoinette was 
now nothing more than any other Frenchwoman; 
and that if any of those detached papers bearing her 
signature should be misapplied she would have, at a 
future period, a ri~:t to make a complaint, and to 
support her declaration by the facts which I had 
just related. The Queen regretted having sent 
me, and feared that she had, by her ' very caution, 
pointed out a method of fabricating forgeries which 
might be dangerous to her ; then again she ex­
claimed, "My apprehensions are as absurd as ' the 
step I made you take. They need nothing more 
for our ruin; all has been told." She gave us details 
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of what had taken place subsequently to the King's 
arrival at the Assembly. They are all well known, 
and I have no · occasion to record them; I will 
merely mention that she told us, though with much 
delicacy, that she was not a little hurt at the King's 
conduct since he had been at the Tuileries; that 
his habit of laying no restraint upon his great 
appetite had promptea. him to eat as if he had been 
at his palace; that those who di.d not know him as 
she did, did not feel thp. piety and the magnanimity 
of his resignation, all which produced so bad an effect 
that deputies who were devoted to him had warned 
him of it; but that no change could be effected. 

I still see in imagination, and shall always see, 
that narrow rell at the F euillans, hung with gre Ii 

paper, that wretched couch whence th dethroned 
Queen stretched out her arms to us, saying that our 
mi~fortunes, of which she was the cause, increased 
her own. There, for the last time, I saw the tears, 
I heard the sobs of her whom high Lirth, natural 
endowments, and, above all, goodness 'of heart, haJ 
seemed to destine to adorn any throne, and be the 
happiness of any people! I t is impossible for those 
who lived with Louis XVI. and Marie Antoinette 
not to be fully convinced, while doing full justice to 
the King's virtues, that if the Queen had been from . 
the moment of her arrival in France the object of 
the care and affection of a Prince of decision and 
authority she would have only added to the glory of 
his reign. 

What affecting things I 'have heard the Queen 
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say in the affl iction cau6ed her by the belief of part of 
the Court and the whole of the people that she did 
not love France! How did that opinion shock 
those who knew her heart and her sentiments! 
Twice did I see her on the point of going from 
her apartments in the Tuileries into the gardens, 
to address the immense throng constantly assembled 
there to insult her. "Yes," exclaimed she, as she 
paced her chamber with hurried steps; "I will say 
to them- Frenchmen, they have had_ the cruelty to 
persuade you that I do not love France !-I! the 
mother of a Dauphin who will reign over this noble 
country !-1! whom Providence has seated upon 
the most powerful throne of Europe! Of all the 
daughters of Maria Theresa am I not that one 
whom fortune has most highly favoured? And 
ought I not to feel all these advantages ? V\That 
should I find at Vi nna? Nothing but sepulchres ! 
what should I lose in France? Everything which 
can confer glory! " 

I protest I only repeat her own words; the 
soundness of h r judgment soon pointed out to her 
the dangers of such a proceeding. "I should 
descend from the throne," said she, "merely, per­
haps, to excite a momentary sympathy, which the 
factious would soon render more injurious than bene­
ficial to me." 

Yes, not only did Marie Antoinette love France, 
but few women took greater pride in the courage 
of Frenchmen. I could adduce a multitude of 
proofs of this; I will relate two traits which de-
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monstrate the noblest enthusiasm: The Queen was 
telling me that at the coronation of the Emperor 
Francis II. , that Prince, bespeaking the admira­
tion of· a French general officer, who was then an 
emigrant, for the fine afJpearance of his troops; 
said . to him, "There are the nze1t to beat your 
sans culottes / "-" That 1'ema£ns to be seen, S£re," 
instantly replied the officer. Th Queen added, 
" I don't know the name of that brave Frenchman, 
but I will learn it; the. King ought to be in posses­
sion of it." As she was reading the public papers a 
few days before the loth of August she observed 
that mention was made of the courage of a young 
man who died in defending the flag h carri d, and 
shouting, " V£ve la N alion / " " Ah! the fine lad! " 
said the Queen; "what a happiness it would have 
been for us if such men had never left off crying, 
, V£ve Ie Ro£/'''! 

In all that I have hithp.rto said of this most un-

1 In reading this account of the roth August 1792 the reader 
must remember that there was hardly any armed force to reSist 
the mob. The regiments that had showed signs of being loyal to 
the King had been removed from Paris by the Assembly. The 
Swiss had been deprived of their own artillery, and the 'Court 
had sent one of their battalions into Normandy at a time when 
there was an idea of taking refuge there. The national guard 
were either disloyal or disheartened, and the gunners, especially, 
of that force at the Tuileries sympathised with the mob. Thus 
the King had about 800 or 900 Swiss and little more than one 
battalion of the national gual . Mandat, one of the six heads of 
the legions of the national guard, to whose tUtn the command 
fell on that day, was true to his duty, but was sent for to the 
Hotel de Ville and .1Ssassinated. Still the small force, even after 
the deparlure of the King, would have probably beaten off the 
mob had not the King given the fatal order to the Swiss to 
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fortunate of women and of Queens, those who did 
not live with her, those who knew h _r but partially, 
and especially the majority of foreigners, prejudiced 
'by infamous libels, may imagine I have thought it 
my duty to sacrifice truth on the altar of gratitude. 
Fortunately I can invoke unexceptionable witnesses; 
they will declare whether what I assert that I have 
seen and heard appears to them either untrue or 
improbable. 

cease firing.-See Thiers' .Rhloiution Franraise, vol. i. chap. xi. 
Bonaparte's 6pinion of the mob may be judged by his remarks on 
the 20th June T7 92, when, disgusted at seeing the King appear 
with the red cap on his head, he exclaimed, "Che coglione! 
Why have they let in all that rabble ? why don't they sweep off 
four or five hundred of them with the cannon? the rest would 
then set off."-BoIt1Tienne, vol. i. p. 13 (Bentley, London, 1836). 
Bonaparte carried out his own plan against a far strong'=!r force 
of assailants on the Jour des Sections, 4th October J795. 
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CHAPTER XI. 

Petion refuses Mad:\me Campan permission to be imprisoned in the 
Temple with the Quen- She excites the suspicions of Robes­
pierre-Domiciliary visits- Madame Campan opens the port­
folio she had received from the l( ing-Papers in it, with the 
seals o( State- Mirabeau's secret correspondence with the 
Court-Destroyed as well as the other papers- The only docu­
ment preserved- It is delivered to M. de Malesherbes on the 
trial of the unfortunate Louis XVI. - End of the Memoirs. 

THE Queen having lost her watch and purse as she 
was passing from the Tuileries to the Feuillans, re­
quested my sister to lend her twenty-five louis. l 

I spent part of the day at the Feuillans, and her 
Majesty told me she would ask Petiun tl') let me be 
with her in the place which the Assembly should 
decree for her prison. I then returned home to 
prepare everything that might be necessary for me 
to accompany her. 

On the same day (llth August) at nine in the 
evening I returned to the F euillans. I found there 
were orders at all the gates forbidding my being ad­
mitted. I claimed a right to enter by virtue of the 

1 On being interrogated the Queen declared that these five­
and-twenty louis had been lent to her by my sister; this formed 
a prete~ce for arresting her and me, and led to her death.­
Madame Camjall. 

VOL. II. 43 
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first permission which had been given to me; I was 
again refused. I was told that the Queen had as 
many people as were requisite ·about her. My 
sister was with her as well as one of my companior:ts, 
who came out of the prisons of the Abbaye on the 
11th. I renewed my solicitations on the 12th; my 
tears and entreaties moved neither the keepers of 
the gates, nor even a deputy, to whom I addressed 
myself. 

I soon heard of the transfer of Louis XVI. and 
his family to the T emple. I went to Petion accom­
panied by M. Valadon, for whom I had procured a 
place in the post-office, and who was devoted to me. 
He determined to go up to Petion alone; he told 
him that those who requested to be confined could 
not be suspected of evil designs, and that no politi­
cal opinion could afford a ground o( oLjection to 
these solicitations. Seeing that the well-meaning 
man did not succeed I thought to do more in 
person; but Petion persisted in his refusal, and 
threatened to send me to La Force. Thinking to 
give me a kind of consolation, he added I might be 
certain that all those who were then with Louis 
XVI. and his family would not stay with them long. 
And in fact two or three days afterwards the 
Princesse de Lamballe, Madame de Tourzel, her 
daughter, the Queen's first woman, the first woman 
of the Dauphin and of Madame, M. de Chamilly 
and M. de Hue were carried off during the night 
and transferred to La Force. . After the departure 
of the King and Queen for the Temple my sister 
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was detained a prisoner in 'the apartments their 
Majesties had quitted for tw.enty-four hours. 

F rom this time I was reduced to the misery of 
having no further intelligence of my august and un­
fortunate mistress but t.hrough the medium of the' 
newspapers or the national guard, who did duty at 
the Temple. 

The King and Queen said nothing to me at the 
F euillans about the portfolio which had been \~e­

posited with me i no doubt they expected to see 
me again. The minister Roland and the deputies 
composing the provisional government were very 
intent on a search for papers belonging to ~heir 

Majesties. They had the whole of the Tuileries 
ransacked. The infamous Robespierre bethought 
~imself of M. Campan, the Queen's private secre­
tary, and said that his death was feigned, that he 
was living unknown in some obscure part of France, 
and was doubtless the depositary of all the im­
portant papers. In a great portfolio belonging to 
the King there had been found a solitary letter from 
the Comte d'Artois, which, by its date, and the sub­
jects of which it treated, indicated the existence of 
a continued correspondence. (This letter appears 
among the documents used on the trial of Louis 
XVI.) A former preceptor of my son's had studied 
with Robespierre i the I~tter meeting him in the 
street, and kno ing the connection which had sub­
sisted between him and the family of M. Camp an, 
required h'm to say~ upon his honour, whether he 
was certain of the death of the latter. The man 

.. 
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replied that M. Campan had died at La Briche in 
179 1 , and that he had seen him interred in the 
cemetery of Epinay. "Well, then !" resumed Robes­
pierre, "bring me the certificate of his burial at 
twelve to-morrow; it is a document for which I 
have pressing occasion." Upon hearing the deputy's 
demand I instantly sent for a certificate of M. Carn­
pan's burial, and Robespierre received it at nine 
o'clock the next morning. But I considered that, 
in thinking of my father-in-law, they were coming 
very near me, the real depositary of these important 
papers. I passed days and nights in considering 
what I could do for the best under such circum­
stances. 

I was thus situated when the order to inform 
against those whu had been denounced as suspected 
on the loth of August led to domiciliary visits. My 
servants were told that the people of the quarter ir. 
which I lived were talking much of the search that 
would be made in my house, and came to apprise 
me of it. I heard that fifty armed men W9uld make 
themselves masters of M. Auguie's house, where I 
then was. I had just received this intelligence 
when M. Gougenot, the King's matire d'h8tel and 
receiver-general of the taxes, a man much attached 
to his sovereign, came into my room wrapped in a 
riding-cloak, under which, with great difficulty, he 
carried the King's portfolio, which J had entrusted 
to him. He threw it down at my feet, and said to 
me, "There is your deposit; I did not receive it 
from our unfortunate King's own hands; in deliver-
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ing it to you I have executed my trust. " After 
saying this he was about to withdraw. I stopped 
him, praying him to consult with me what I ought 
to do ,in such a trying emergency. H e would not 
listen to my entreaties, or even hear me describe 
the course I intended to pursue. I told him my 
abode was about to be surrounded; I imparted to 
him what the Queen had said to me about the con­
tents of the portfolio. To all this he answered, 
"There it is; decid for yourself; I will have no 
hand in it." Upon that I r mained a few seconds 
thinking, and my conduct was founded upon the 
following reasons. I spoke aloud, although to my­
self; I walked about the room with agitated steps; 
M. Gougenot was thunderstruck. " Yes," said I , 
"when we can no longer communicate with our 
King and receive his orders, however attached we 
may be to him, we can only serve him according 
to the best of our own judgment. The Queen said 
to me, 'This portfolio contains scarcely anything 
but documents of a most dangerous description in 
the event of a trial taking place, if it should fall into 
the hands of revolutionary persons.' She mentioned, 
too, a single document which would, under the same 
circumstances, be useful. It is my duty to interpret 
her words, and consider them as orders. She meant 
to say, 'You will save uuch a paper, you will destroy 
the rest if they a~e likely to be taken from you.' If 
it were not so, was there any occasion for her to 
enter into any detail as to what the portfolio con­
tained? The order to keep it was sufficient. Prob-
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ably it contains, moreover, the letters of that part of 
the family which has emigrated; there is nothing 
which may have been foreseen or decided upon that 
can be useful. now; and there can be no political 
thread which has not been cut by the events of the 
loth of August and the imprisonment of the King. 
My house is about to be surrounded, I cannot con­
ceal anything of such bulk; I might then, through 
want of foresight, give up that which would cause 
the condemnation of the King. Let us open the 
portfolio, save the document alluded to, and destroy 
the rest." I took a knife and cut open one side of 
the portfolio. I saw a great number of envelopes 
endorsed by the King's own hand. M. Gougenot 
found there the former seals of the King/ su~h as 
they were before the Assembly had changed the 
inscnptlOn. At this moment we heard a great 
noise; he agreed to tie up the portfolio, take it ' 
again under his cloak, and go to a safe place to 
execute what I had taken upon me to determine. 
He made me swear, by all I held most sacred, that 
I would affirm, under every possible emergency, 
that the course I was pursuing had not been dictated 
to me by anybody; and that whatever might be the 
result, I would take all the . credit or all the blame 
upon myself. I lifted up my hand and took the 

1 No doubt it was in order to have the ancient seals ready at 
a moment's notice, in case of a counter-revolution, tnat the Queen 
desired me not to quit the Tuileries. M. Gougenot threw the 
seals into the river, one from above the Pont N eu£, and the other 
from near the Pont Royal.-Madame Cam jan. 
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oath he required; he went out. Half an ho.ur after­
w~rds a great number of armed men 'came to my 
house i they placed sentinels at all the outlets; they 
broke open set:'reta£les and closets, of which th~y 
had not the keys; they searched the flower-pots 
and boxes; they examined the cellars; and the' 
commandant repeatedly said, " Look particularly 
.for papers." In the afternoon M. Gougenot re­
turned. He had still the seals of France about 
him, and he brought me. a statement of all that he 
had burnt. 

The portfolio contained twenty letters from 
Monsieur, eighteen or nineteen from the Comte 
d'Artois, seventeen from Madame Adelaide, eighteen 
from Madame Victoire, a g reat many letters from 
Comte Alexandre de Lameth, and many from M. 
de Malesherbes, with documents annexed to them. 
There . were also some from M. de Montmorin and 
other ex-ministers or ambassadors. Each corre­
spondence had its title written in lhe King's own 
hand upon the blank paper which contained it. The 
most voluminous was that from Mirabeau. It was 
tied up with a scheme for an escape, which he thought 
necessary. M. Gougenot, who had skimmed over 
these letters with more attention than the rest, 
,told me they were of so interesting a nature that 
the King had no doubt kept them as documents 
exceedingly valuable for a history of his reign, and 
that the correspondence with the Princes, whiCh was 
entirely relative to what' was going forward abroad. 
in concert with the King, would have been fatal to 
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him if it had. been seized. After he had finished he 
placed in my hands the proces-verbal, signed by all 
the ministers, to ~hich the King attacned so much 
importance, because he had given his opinion against 
the declaration of war; a copy of the letter written 
by the King to the Princes, his brothers, inviting 
them to return to France; an account of the 
diamonds which the Queen had sent to Brussels 
(these two documents were in my handwriting); 
and a receipt for four hundred thousand francs, under 
the hand of a celebrated banker. This sum was 
part of the eight hundred thousand francs which 
the Queen had gradually saved during her reign 
out of her pension of three hundred thousand francs 
per annum, and out of the one hundred thousand 
francs given by way of present on the birth of the 
Dauphin. This receipt, written on a very small 

. piece of paper, was in the cover of an almanac. I 
agreed with M. Gougenot, who was obliged by his 
office to reside in Paris, that he should retain the 
proces-'?)erbalof the council and the receipt for the 
four hundred thousand francs, and that we should 
wait either for orders or for the means of transmit­
ting these documents to the King or Queen; and I 
set out for Versailles. 

The strictness of the precautions taken to guard 
the illustrious prisoners was daily increased. The 
idea that I could not inform the King of the course 
I had adopted of burning his papers, and the fear 
that I should not be able to transmit to him that 
which he had pointed out as necessary, tormented 
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me to such a degree that it is wonderful my health 
endured the strain. 

The "dreadful trial drew near. Official advocates 
were granted to the King; the heroic virtue of M. 
de Malesherbes induced him to brave the most 
imminent dangers, either to save his master or to 
perish with him. I hoped also to be able to find 
some means of informing his Majesty of what I had 
thought it r~ght to do. I sent a man, on whom 
I could rely, to Paris, to request M. Gougenot to 
come to me at Versailles: he came immediately. 
We agreed that he should see M. de Malesherbes 
without availing himself of any intermediate person 

. for that purpose. 
M. Gougenot awaited his return from the 

Temple at the door of his hotel, and made a sign 
that he wished to speak to him. A moment after­
wards a servant came to introduce him into the 
magistrates' room. He imparted to M. de Males­
herbes what I had thought it right to do with 
respect to the King's papers, and placed in his 
hands the proces-verbal of the council, which his 
Majesty had preserved in order to serve, if occasion 
required it, for a ground of his defence. However, 
that paper is not mentioned in either of the speeches 
of his advocate; probably it was determined not to 
make use of it. 

I stop at that terrible period which is marked by 
tHe assassination of a King whose virtues are well 
known; but I cannot refrain from relating ~hat he 
deigned to say in my favour to M. de Malesherbes: 
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"Let Madame Campan know that she did what I 
should myself have ordered her to do; I thank her 
for it; she is one of those whom I regret I have it 
not in my power to recompense for their fidelity to 
my person, and for their good services." I did not 
hear of this until the morning after he had suffered, 
and I think I should have sunk under my despair if 
this honourable testimony had not given me some 
consolation. 

* 

[Madame Campan's narrative suddenly ceases with the end of 
her personal attendance on Marie Antoinette, probably in pur­
suance of the rule $he laid down for herself in writing her 
lIfcllloirs, not to relate anything concerning the royal family 
which she had not either witnessed, or been informed of by 
eye-witnesses. Madame Campan's share in the horrors of the 
Revoluti()n through the violent death of her sister, Madame 
Auguie, and her own life after parting from the Queen, are 
detailed in the Prefatory Memoir.] 



· THE ROYAL FAMILY IN THE TEMPLE. 

AN EX TO CHAPTER X I. 

MADA.ME CAMPAN'S narrative breaking off abruptly 
at the time of the painful end met with by her 
sister, we have supplemented it by abridged accounts 
of the chief incidents in the tragedy which over­
whelmed the royal house she so faithfully served, 
taken from contemporary records and the best 
historical authorities. 

THE ROYAL FAMILY IN THE TEMPLE. 

The Assembly having, at the instance of the Commune of Paris, 
decreed that the royal family should be immured in the Temple, 
they were removed thither from the Fenillans on the 13th of 
August 1792, in the charge of Petion, mayor of Paris, and 
Santerre, the commandant-general. Twelve commissioners uf 
the general council were to keep constant watch at the Temple, 
which had been fortified by earthworks and garrisoned by detach­
ments of the national guard, no person being allowed to enter 
without permission from the municipality.1 

The T emple, formerly the headquarters of the Knight 
Templars in Paris, consisted of two buildings-the Palace, facing 
the Rue de Temple, usually occupied by one of the Princes of 
the blood j 2 and the Tower, standing behind the Palace. s The 

1 See Thiel'S' French Revolution, translated by Frederick Shoberl. Edit. 
1854. vol. ii. p. 13. 

2 The Comte d'Artois bad been the last royal resident. 
3 Clery gives a more n;inute description of this singular building: CI The 

small tower of the Temple in which the King was then confined stood with its 



PRIVATE LIFE OF /YIARIE ANTOINETTE. 

Tower v as a square building, with a round tower at each corner 
and a small turret on one side, usually called the Tourelle. In 
the narrative of the Duchesse d'Angouleme she says that the 
soldiers who escorted the royal prisoners wished to take the King 
alone to the Tower, and his family to the Palace of the Temple, 
but that on the way Manuel 1 received an order to imprison them 
all in the Tower, where so little provision had been made for 
their reception that Madame Elizabeth slept in the kitchen. The 
royal family were accompanied by the Princesse de Lamballe, 
Madame de Tourzel and her daughter Pauline, Mesdames de 
Nayarre, de Saint Brice, Thibaut, and Bazire, MM. de Hue and 
de Chamilly, and three men - servants.2 An order from the 
Commune soon removed these devoted attendants, and M. de 
Hue alone was permitted to return. In spite of the frightful 
ordeal so recently passed through at the Tuileries and in the 
Assembly, and the distracting uncertainty as to the fate awaiting 
them, the royal family at once adopted a quiet and studious 
routine. "We all passed the day together," says Madame 
Royale. " My father taught my brother geography; my mother 
history, and to learn verses by heart; and my aunt gave him 

back against the great tower, without any interior communication, and formed 
a long square, flanked by two turrets. In one of these turrets there was a 
narrow staircase that led from the first floor to a gallery on the platform; in 
the other were small rooms, answering to each story of the tower. The body 
of the building was four storie~ high. The first consisted of an antechamber, 
a dining-room, and a small room in t.he turret, where there was a library con­
taining from twelve to fifteen hundred volumes. The second story was 
divided nearly in the same manner. The largest room was the Queen's bed­
chamber, in which the Dauphin also slept ; the second, which was separated 
from the Queen's by a small antechamber almost without light, .was occupied 
by Madame Royale and Madame Elizabeth. The King's apartments were on 
the third story. He slept in the great room, and made a study of the turret 
closet. There was a kitchen separated from the King's chamber by a small 
dark room, which had been successively occupied by M. de Cl;uunilly and M. 
de Hue. The fourth story was shut up; and on the ground floor there were 
kitchejlS of which no use was made." - J ot/mal, p. 96. 

1 Prowreur of the Commune. He moved that the King should be sent to 
the Temple, and volunteered to be his gaok,r; but his intercourse with the 
royal famjjy modified his feelings towards them: he voted against the King's 
death, paid a high tribute to tbe Queen at her trial, and was himself executed 
by order of the Revolutionary Tribunal in November 1793.-See Tlt£ers 
vol. i., edit. 1854. ' 

2 Royal AtIellloirs of the Frmc1l Rl!Volution.' Murray, 1823, p. 159. 
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little lessons in arithmetic. My father had fortunately found 
a library which amused him, and my mother worked tapestry . 
. . . We went every day to walk in the garden, for the sake of 
my brother's health, though the 'King was always insulted by the 
guard. On the Feast of Saint Louis ~a Ira was sung under the 
walls of the Temple. Manuel that evening brought my aunt a 
letter from her aunts at Rome. l It was the last the family 
received from without. My father was no longer called King. 
He was treated with no kind of respect; the officers always sat 
in his presence and never took off their hats. They deprived 
him of his sword and searched his pockets. . . . Petion sent as 
turnkey and gaoler the hornlJle man 2 who had broken open my 
father's Goor on the 20th June I792,and who had been near 
assassinating him. This man never left the Tower, and was in­
defatigable in. endeavouring to torment him. One time he would 
sing the Carmagllole, and a thousand other horrors, Lefore us ; 
again, knowing that my mother disliked the smoke of tobacco, he 
would puff it in her face, as well as in that of my father, as they 
happened to pass him. He took care always to be in bed before 
we went to supper, because he knew that we must pass through 
his room. Sometimes, even, he would be in bed as we went to 
dinner; in short, there was no species of torment or insult that 
he did not practise. My'father suffered it all with gentleness, 
forgiving the man from the bottom of hb heart. My mother 
bore it with a dignity that frequently re~ressed his insolencp.." S 

The only occasion, Madame Royale says, on which the Queen 
showed any impatience at the conduct of the officials, was when a 
municipal officer woke the Dauphin suddenly in the night to make 
certain that he was safe, as though the sight of the peacefully 
sleeping child would not have been in itself the best assurance. 

Clery, the valet de c1tambre of the Dauphin,4 having with 
difficulty obtained permission to resume his duties, entered the 

1 Mesdames Adelaide and .victo;re. 2 Rocher, a saddler by trade. 
S Royal Memoirs, pp. 166'170. 
, Clery we ha,'e seen and known, and the fonn and manners of that model 

of pristine fai th and loy~ty can never be forgotten. Gentleman-like and 
complaisant in his manners, his deep gravity and melancholy fe.atures 
announced that the sad sC'!nes in which he had acted a part so honourable 
were never for a moment out of his memory.-Scott's Life of Napoleon, edit. 
1827, vol. ii. p . 148. 
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Temple on 24th August, and for eight days shared with M. de 
Hue 'the personal attendance; but on the 2d September De Hue 
w~s arrested, seals were placed ~n the little :oom te had occupi~d, 
and Clery passed the night in that of the Kmg. On the fol lowmg 
morning Manuel arrived, charged by the Commune to inform the 
King that De Hue would not be permitted to retnrn, and to offer 
to send another person. "I thank you," answered the King. "I 
will manage with the valet de dlambl'e of my son; and if the 
council refuse I will serve myself. I am determined to do it." 1 

On the 3d September Manuel visited the Temple and assured 
the King that Madame de Lamballe and all the other prisoners 
who had been removed to La Force were well, and safely 
guarded. "But at three o'clock," says Madame Royale, "just 
after dinner, and as tl1e King was sitting down to tric-trac with 
my mother (which he played for the purpose of having an oppor­
tunity of saying a few words to her unheard by the keepers), the 
most horrid shouts were heard. The officer who happened to be 
on guard in the room behaved well. He shut the door and the 

- window, and even drew the curtains to prevent their seeing any­
thing; but outside the workmen and the gaoler Rocher joined 
the assassins and increased the tumult. Several officers 01 the 
guard and the municipality now arrived, and on my father's asking 
what was the matter, a young officer replied, ' Well, since you 
will know, it is the head of Madame de Lamballe that they 
want to show you.' At these words my mother was overcome 
with horror; it was the only occasion on which her firmness 
abandoned her. The municipal officers were very angry with 
the. young man; but the King, with his usual goodness, excused 
him, saying that it waS his own fault since he had questioned the 
officer. The noise lasted till five o'clock. We learned that the 
people had wished to force the door, and that 'the municipal 
officers had been enabled to prevent it only by putting a tri­
coloured scarf 2 across it, and allowing six ' of the murderers to 
march round our,prison with the head of the Princess, leaving at 
the door her body, which they would ,~ave l dragged in also." , 

1 Clery's Journal. 
2 Madame Royale says later in her narrative: "The municipal officer who 

~lad give~, his scarf to tie across the door took care to make my.father pay him 
l ts value, Clery says that he himself" paid the forty-five sous," 
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Clery was not so fortunate as to escape the frightful spectacle. 
He had gone down to dine with Tison an\l liis wife, employed 
as servants in the Temple, and says : "We were hardly seateli 
when a head, on the end of a pike, was presented at the window. 
Tison's wife gave a great cry; the assassins fancied they recog­
nised the Queen's voice, and responded by savage laughter. 
Under the idea that his Majesty was still at table, they placed 
their dreadful trophy where it must be seen. It was the head 
of the Princesse de Lamballe; although bleeding, it was not dis­
figured, and her light hair, still in curls, hung about the pike." 

The republicans w<.:re at this time infuriated by reports of the 
rapid approach of the Prussians. Rocher drew his sabre and 
threatened the King with it, crying, "If they come, I shalt kill 
you! " For some hours it seemed impossiblt: that the prisoners 
of the Temple should escape the fate of those slaughtered at La. 
Force, the Conciergerie, and the other prisons, for the c0mmis­
sioners of the Commune addressed a letter to the Assembly 
beginning with these ominous words : "The sanctuary of Louis 
XVI. is threatened. Resz'stance would be z'mpolz'tz'c a1ld dangerous, 
perhaps ulIjust. Harmony between the representatives of the 
people and the Commissioners of the Commune might prevent 
excess." 1 At length, however, the' immense mob that sur­
rounded the Temple gradually withdrew, "to follow the head of 
the Princesse de Lamballe to the Palais Royal." 2 Meanwhile 
the ' royal family could scarcely believe that for the time their 
lives were saved. "My aunt and I heard the drums beating 
to arms all night," says Madame Royale i "my unhappy motper 
did not even attempt to sleep. We heard her sobs." 

In the comparative tranquillity which followed the September 
massacres, . the royal Jtmily res~med the regular habits they 
had adopted on entering the . Temple. '" The King usually 
rose at six in the morning," says Clery. "He shaved himself, 
and I dressed his hair i he th~n went to his reading-room, whlch 

1 De Molleville's Amlals vfthe Frenclz Revolution, voL vii. p. 377. 
2 The pike that bore the head was fixed before the Duc d'OrJeans' window 

as he was going to dinner. it is said that he looked at this horrid sight without 
horror, went into the dining-room, sat down to I:flble, and helped his guests 
without saying a word. His silence and coolness left it doubtful whether the 
assassins, in presenting him this bloody trophy, intended to offer him an insult 
'or to pay him homage.-Ibid. p. :;88. 
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being very small, the municipal officer on duty remained in the 
bed-chamber with the door open, that he might always keep the 
King in sight. His Majesty continued praying on his knees 
for some time, and then read till nine. During that interval, 
aftet p~tting his chamber to rights and preparing the break­
fast, I went down to the Queen, who never opened her door 
till I arrived, in order to prevent the municipal officer from 
going into her apartment. At nine o'clock the Queen, the 

, children, and Madame Elizabeth went up to the King's chamber 
to breakfast. At ten the King and his family went down to the 
Queen's chamber, and there passed the day. He employed 
himself in educating his son, made him recite passages from 
Corneille and Racine, gave him lessons in geography, and 
exercised him in colouring the maps. The Queen, on her part, 
was employed in the education of her daughter, and these 
different lessons lasted till eleven o'clock. The remaining time 
till noon was passed in needlework, knitting, or making tapestry. 
At on~ o'clock, when the weather was fine, the royal family were 
conducted to the garden by four municipal officers and the com­
mander of a legion of the national guard. As there were a 
number of workmen in the Temple employed in pulling down 
houses and building new walls, they only allowed a part u[ the 
chestnut-tree walk for the promenade, in which I was allowed to 
share, and where I also played with the young Prince at ball, quoits, 
or races. At two we returned to the Tower, where I served the 
dinner, at which time Santerre regularly came to the Temple, 
attended by two aides-de-camp. The King sometimes spoke to 
him-the Queen never. 

" After the meal the royal family came down into the Queen's 
room, and their Majesties generally played a game of picquet or 
tric-trac. At four o'clock the King took a little repose, the 
Princesses round him, each with a book. .. . When the King woke 
the conversation was resumed, and I gave writing lessons to his 
son, taking the copies, accurding to his instructions, from the works 
of Montesquieu and other celebrated authors. After the lesson 
I took the young Prince into Madame Elizabeth's room, where we 
played at ball, and battledore and shuttlecock. In the evening 
the family sat round a table, while the Queen read to them from 
books of history, or other works proper to instruct and amuse 
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the children. Madame Elizabeth to'ok the book in her tum, 
and in this manner they read till eight o'clock. After that I 
served the supper of the young Prince, in which the royal family 
shared, and the King amused the children with charades out of ~ 
collection of Frcnr.h papers which he found in the library. . After 
the Dauphin had supped, I undressed him, and the Queen 
heard him say his prayers. At nine the . King went to supper, 
and afterwards went for a moment to the Queen's chamber, 
shook hands with her and his sister for tlie night, kissed his 
children, and then retired to the turret-room, where he sate 
reading till midnight. The Queen and the Princesses locked 
themselves in, and one of the municipal officers remained in the 
little room which parted their chamber, where he passed the 
night ; the other followed his Majesty. In this manner was the 
time passed as long as the King remained in the small tower." 

But even these harmless pursuits were too often made the 
means of further insulting and thwarting the unfortunate family~ 

. Commissary Le Clerc interrupted the Prince's writing lessons, 
proposing to substitute Republican works for those from which the 
King selected his copies. A smith who was present when the 
Queen was reading the history of France to her children de­
nounced her to the Commune for choosing the period when the 
Connetable de Bourbon took arms against France, and said she 
wished to inspire her son with unpatriotic feelings; a municipal 
officer asserted that the multiplicatiun taole the Prince was study­
ing would afford a means of " speaking in cipher," so arithmetic 
had to be abandoned. l Much the same occurred even with 
the needlework: the Queen and Princess finished some chair­
backs, which they wished to send to the Duchesse de Serente; 
but ~he officials considered that the patterns were hieroglyphics, 
intended for carrying on a correspondence, and ordered that none 
of the Princesses' work should leave the Temple. The short 
daily walk in the garden was also embittered by the rude and 
cruel buffoonery of the military and municipal gaolers; some­
times, however, it afforded an opportunity for marks of sympathy 
to be shown. People would station themselves at the windows 

.1 "When I took my lessons," says Madame Royale, "and my mother 
made extracts from books for me, a municipal officer continually looked over 
my shoulder, thinking w.e were engaged in conspiracies." 

VOL. II. 44 
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of houses overlooking the Temple gardens, and evince by 
gestures their loyal affection, and some of the sentinels showed, 
even by tears, that their duty was painful to them. 

On the 21St September the National Convention was con­
stituted, PMion being made president and Collot d'Herbois 
moving the" abolition of royalty" amidst transports of applause. 
That afternoon a municipal officer, attended by gendarmes a 
clzeval and followed by a crowd of people, arrived, at the Temple, 
and, after a flourish of trumpets, proclaimed the establishment of 
the French Republic. The man, says Clery, "had the voice of 
a stentor." The royal family could distinctly hear the announce­
ment of the King's deposition. " Hebert, so well known under 
the title of Pere Duchene, and Destournelles were on guard. 
They were sitting near the door, and turned to the King with 
meaning smiles. He had a book in his hand, and went on read­
ing without changing coUnte:'1ance. The Queen showed the 
same firmness. The proclamation finished, the trumpets sounded 
afresh. I went t:> the window; the people took me for Louis 
XVI., and I was overwhelmed with insults." 

After the new decree the prisoners were treated with increased 
harshness. Pens, paper, ink, and pencils were taken from them. 
The King and Madame Elizabeth gave up all, but the Queen and 
her daughter each concealed a pencil. "In the beginning of 
October," says Madame Royale, "after my father had supped, 
he was told to stop, that he was not to return to his fonner 
apartments, and that he was to be separated from his family. At 
this dreadful sentence the Queen lost her usual courage. We 
parted from him with abundance of tears, though we expe ted to 
see him again in the morning.1 They brought in our breakfast 
separately from his, however. My mother would take nothing. 
The officers, alarmed at her silent and concentrated ,sorrow, 
allowed us to see the King, but at meal-times only, and on COJl-

1 At nine o'clock, says Clery, the King asked to be taken to bis family, 
but the municipal officers replied th!lt tbey bad" no orders for tbat." Shortly 
afterwards a boy brought the King some bread and a decanter of lemonade for 
his breakfast. The King gave half the bread to Clery, saying, "It seems 
they have forgotten your breakfast; take this, the rest is enough for me." 
Clery I·eru.ed, but the King insisted. "I could not contain my tears," he 
adds; "th" lUng perceived them, and his ow~ fell also." 
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dition that we should not speak low, nor in any foreign language, 
but loud and in 'good French.' 1 We went down, therefore, 
with the greatest joy to dine with my father. In the evening, 
when my brother was in bed, my mother and my aunt alternately 
sat with him or went with me to sup with my father. In the 
morning, after breakfast, we remained in the King's apartments 
while Clery dressed our hair, as he was nu longer allowed to come 
to my mother's room, and this arrangement gave us the pleasure 
of spending a few moments more with my father. I' 2 

The royal prisoners had no comfort except their affection. for 
each other. At that time even common necessaries were denied 
them. Their smail tiloc:k of linen had been lent them by persons 
of the Court during the timc they spent at the Feuillans. S The 
Princesses mended their clothes every day, and after the King 
had gone to bed Madame Elizabeth mended his. "With much 
trouble," says Clery, "I procured some fresh linen for them. 
But the workwomen having marked it with crowned letters, the 
Princesses were ordered to pick them out." The room in the 
great tower to which the King had been removed contained only 
one bed, and no other article of furniture. A chair was brought 
on which Clery spent the first night j painters were still at work 
on the room, and the smell of the paint, he says, was almost un­
bearable. This room was afterwards furnished by collecting from 
various parts of the Temple a che~t of drawers, a small bureau, a 
few odd chairs, a chimney-glass, and a bed hung with green damask, 
which had been used by the captain of the guard to the Comte 
d' Artois. A room for the Queen . was being prepared over that 
of the King, and she implored the workmen to finish it quickly, 
but it was not ready for her occupation for some time, and when she 
was allowed·to remove to it the Dauphin was taken from her and 
placed with his father. When their Majesties met again in the 

1 Madame Elizabeth was violently rebuked by one of the officers for ad­
dressing her brother in a 10 w tone. 

2 When the first deputation from the Council of the Commune visited the 
Temple, and' formally inqwred wheth<or the King had any complaint to make, 
he replied, "No; while he was permitted to remain with his family he was 
happy." 

3 Madame Campan says the Queen told her while at the Feuillans that 
the wife of the English Ambassador (the Countess of Sutherland) had provided 
linen for the use of the Dauphin. (See ant(, vol. ii. p. 236.) 
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great Tower, says Clery, there was little change in the hours 
fixed for meals, reading. walking, and the education of their 
children. They were not allowed to have mass said in the 
Temple, and therefore commissioned Clery \'0 get them the 
breviary in use in the diocese of Paris. Among the hooks read 
by . the King while in the Tower were Hume's HZSt01Y of 
EnglantI (in the original), Tasso, and the D e Imitatione Clzr£sti. 
The jealous suspicions of the municipal office.s led to ' the most 
absurd investigations; a draught-board was taken to pieces lest 
the squares should hide treasonable papers; macaroons were 
broken in half to see that they did not contain letters; peaches 
were cut open and the stones cracked; and Clfry was compelled 
to drink the essence of soap prepared for shaving the King, 
under the pretence that it might contain poison. 

In November the King and all the family had feverish colds, 
and Clery had an attack of rheumatic fever. On the first day of 
his illness be got up 'and tried to dress his master, but the King, 
seeing how ill he was, ordered him to lie down, and himself 
dressed the Dauphin. The little Prince waited on Clery all day, 
and in the evening the King r.ontrived to approach his bed, and 
said in a low voice, "I should like to take care of you myself, 
but you know how we are watched. Take courage; to-lllorrow' 
you shall see my doctor." J Madame Elizabeth brought the valet 
cooling draughts, of which she deprived herself; and after Clery 
was able to get up, the young Prince one night with great difficulty 
kept awake till eleven o'clock in order to give him a box of 
lozenges when he went to make the King's bed. 

On 7th December a deputation from the Commune brought 
an order that the royal family should be deprived of "knives, 
razors, scissors, penknives, and all other cutting instruments." 
The King gave up a knife, and took from a morocco case a 
pair of scissors and a penknife; and the officials theu searched 
the room, taking away the little toilette implements of gold and 
silver, and afterwards removing the Princesses' working materials. 
Returning to the King's room, they insisted on seeing what re­
mained in his pocket-case. " Are these toys which I have in my 

1 M. Le Monnier, who had been allowed to attend the royal family during 
their slight illnesses. 
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hand also cutting instruments?" asked the King, showing them a 
cork-screw, a turn-screw, and a steel for lighting. These also 
were taken from him. Shortly afterwards Madame Elizabeth 
was mending the King's coat, and, having no scissors, was com­
pelled to break the thread with her teeth. " What a contrast!" 
he exclai~ed, looking at her tenderly. "You wanted nothing in 
your pretty house at Montreuil. "-" Ah, brother," she answered, 
"how can I have any regret when I partake your misfortunes?" 1 

The Queen had frequently to take on herself some of the 
humble duties of a servant. This was especially painful to Louis 
XVI. when the anuiversary of some State festival brought the 
contrast between past and present with unusual keenness before 
him. "Ah, Madame," he once exclaimed, "what an employ­
ment {or a Queen of France ! Could they see that at Vienna I 
Who would have foreseen that, in uniting your lot to mine, you 
would have descended so low ?"-" And !f0 you esteem as no­
thing," she replied, "the glory of being the wife of one of the 
best and most persecuted of men? Are not such misfortunes the 
noblest honour!; til 2 

Meanwhile the Assembly had decided that the King should 
be brought to trial. Nearly all parties, except the Girondists, 
no matter how bitterly opposed to each other, could agree 
in making him the scapegoat; and the first rumour of the ap­
proaching ordeal was conveyed to the Temple by Clery's wife,S 

1 Clery's Jou".nal. 2 Alison's Ifistory of E urope, vol. ii. p. 29Y. 
S The Convention was fatigued by long discussions. Members not in­

terested in them, and the two parties not ill the first rank, felt the need of con· 
cord, and wished to see men occupy themselves with the Republic. There was 
an apparent truce, and the attention of the Assembly was directed for a moment 
to the new constitution, which the Mountain caused it to abandon in order to 
decide on the fate of the fallen Prince. The leaders of the Extreme Left did 
not want the Gironrusts and the moderate members of the Plain to organise the 
Republic. They would have established the system of the' Bourgeoisie, a little 
more democratic than that of 1791 .... but they could only accomplish their 
end by power, and they could "mly obtain power by protracting the revolu­
tionary state in France. The cona rnnation of Louis XVI. would arouse all 
passions, rally round them the violent parties, and, by exposing the desire of 
the Girondists to save Louis XVI., ruin them in the estimation of the multitude. 
A dethroned king was dangerous to a young democracy; but the party of the 
Mountain wonld have been more clement had it not hoped to ruin the Gironde 
at the same time.-;-Mignet's H istory of the French Revolution: Bell and Daldy, 
1868, p. 178. 
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who, with a friend, had perr:llssion occasionally tp visit him. " I 
did not know how to announce this horrid news to the King," he 
says; "but time was pressing, and he had forbiddep my conceal­
ing anything from him. In the evening, while .andressing him, I 
gave him an account of all I had learnt, and added that there 
were only four days to concert some plan of corresponding with 
the Queen. The arrival of the municipal officer would not allow 
me to say more. Next morning, when the King rose, I could not 
get a moment for speaking with him. He went up with his son to 
breakfast with the Princesses, and I followed. After breakfast he 
talked long with the Queen, who, by a look full of trouble, made 
me understand that they were discussing what I had told the 
King. During the day I found an opportunity of describing to 
Madame Elizabeth how much it had cost me to a:Jgment the 
King's distresses by informing him of his approaching trial. She 
reassured me, saying that the King feit this as a mark of attach­
ment on my part, and added, 'That which most troubles him is 
the fear of being separated from us.' In the evening tile King 
told me how satisfied he was at having had warning that he was 
to appear before the Convention. ' C.ontinue,' he said, • to en­
deavour to find out something as to what they want to de with 
me. :Never fear distressing me. I have agreed with my family 
not to seem pre-informed, in order not to compromise you.' " 

Soon after this conversation Clery had to appear before a 
committee sent to the Temple to audit the expenses of the royal 
prisoners, and he then learnt from a municipal officer that it had 
not yet been decided to separate the King from his family; but 
a newspaper was given him containing the decree which ordered 
that the King should appear before the Convention. 

On the 11th December, at five o'clock in the morning, the 
prisoners heard the ghlerale beaten throughout Paris, and cavalry 
and cannon entered the Temple gardens. At nine the King and 
the Dauphin went as usual to breakfast with the Queen. They 
were allowed to remain together for an hour, but constantly under 
the eyes of their republican guardians. " Not being able to pour 
out their hearts freely, or express the many fears agitating them, 
was," says Clery, "perpetual torture to the royal family." At 
last they were obliged to part, doubtful whether they would ever 
see each other again. The little Prince, who remained with 1::s 
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father, and was 'ignorant of the new cause for anxiety, begged hard 
that the King would play at ninepins with him as usual. Twice 
the Dauphin could not get beyond a certain number. " Each 
time that I get' up to sixteen," he said, with some vexation, "I 
lose the game." The King did not reply, but Clery fancied the 
words made some impression on him. 1 

At eleven, while the King was giving the Dauphin a reading 
lesson, two municipal officers entered and said they had come 
"to take young Louis to his mother." The King inquired why, 
but was only told that such were the orders of the council. At 
one o'clock the Mayor of Paris, Chambon, accompanied by 
Chaumette, Proczereur de la COllllll lme, Santerre, commandant of 
the national guard, and others, arrived at the Temple and read 
a decree to the King, which ordered that" Louis Capet" should 
be brought before the Convention. " Capet is not my name," he 
replied, "but that of one of my ancestors. I could have wished," 
he added, "that you had left my son with me during the last two 
hours. But this treatment is consistent with all I have experi­
enced here. i follow you, not because I recognise the authority 
of the Convention, but because I can be compelled to obey it." 
He then followed the Mayor to a carriage which waited, with a 
numerous escort, at the gate of the Temple. The family left 
behind were overwhelmed with grief and apprehension. "It is 
impossible to describe the anxiety we c;uffered," says Madame 
Royale. "My mother used every endeavour with the officer who 
guarded her to discover what was passing; it was the first time 
she had condescended to question any of these men. He would 
tell her nothing." 

Madame Elizabeth beckoned to Clery to follow her to her 
room, while the Queen talked with the municipal officer. "We 
are prepared for the worst," she said; "we encourage no false 
hopes about the King's fate. He will die the victim of his good­
ness and his love for the people, for whose happiness he has 
laboured ever since he came to the throne. How cruelly are they 
deceived 1 The King's r~ligion will support him even in this 
terrible adversity." For an hour the Princess talked to the faith-

1 In such crises the royal family naturally saw evil omens in things too 
trivial for notice at other times. See Ma~ame Campan's story of the Queen's 
"farm about the candles on her toilette.table.-Allte, vol. ii. p. 41. 
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ful s~rvant, asking after a time, with obvious ~gitati?n, "Have 
you heard them speak of the Queen? Alas! what can they re­
proach her with ?"-" No, Madame; but what can they reproach 
the King with ?"-" Oh, with nothing, with nothing ·J But per­
haps they look on the King as a victim necessary for their safety. 
The Queen and her children could not be an obstacle to their 
ambition." 

This long and sad interview was their last. At six o'clock 
Clery received the Commune's orders to have no further com­
munication with the Dauphin and the three Princesses, as he was 
set apart to wait on the King only. By a refinement of cruelty, 
when the prisoners felt most intense anxiety for tidings of each 
other, they were to be most strictly guarded from receiving the~ ; 
and the hours already numbered were no longer to be passed 
together. 

TRIAL OF THE KING-HIS WILL-DEBATE ON. THE SEN TENCE­

PARTING OF THE ROYAL FAMILY-E~ECUTION. 

The crowd was immense as, on the morning of 11th Decem­
ber 1792, Louis XVI. was driven slowly from the Temple to the 
Convention, escorted by cavalry, infantry, and artillery. Paris 
looked like an armed camp: all the posts were doub~ed ; the 
muster-roll of the nati.onal guard was called over every hour; a 
piquet of two hundred men watched in the court of each of the 
right sections; a reserve with cannon was stationed at the 
Tuileries, and strong detachments patrolled the streets and 
cleared the road of all loiterers. The trees that lined the 
boulevards, the doors and windows of the houses, were alive 
with gazers, and all eyes were fixed on the King. He was much 
changed since his people last beheld him. The beard he had 
been compelled to grow after his razors were taken from him 
covered cheeks, lips, and chin with light-coloured hair, which 
concealed the melullcholy expression of his mouth; he had 
become thin, and his garments hung loosely on him; but his 
manner was perfectly collected and calm, and he recognised and 
named to the Mayor the various quarters through which he 
passed. On arriving at the Feuillans he was taken to a room 
to await the orders of the Assembly. During this brief interval 




